

How social behaviour in juvenile Brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) are regulated by social hierarchies and exposure to the benzodiazepine oxazepam

Elin Johansson Kvarnström

Bachelor thesis • 15 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Ecology and Management Jägmästarprogrammet Kandidatarbeten i skogsvetenskap • Nr 2022:10 Umeå 2022

How social behaviour in juvenile Brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) are regulated by social hierarchies and exposure to the benzodiazepine oxazepam

Elin Johansson Kvarnström

Supervisor:	Erin S. McCallum, Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Department of Wildlife, Fish and Environmental Studies
Examiner:	Nils Henriksson, Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Department of forest Ecology and Management

Credits:	15 credits		
Level:	First cycle, G2E		
Course title:	Självständigt kandidatarbete i skogsvetenskap		
Course code:	EX0911		
Programme/education:	Jägmästarprogrammet		
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Forest Ecology and Management		
Place of publication:	Umeå		
Year of publication:	2022		
Title of series:	Bachelor thesis in Forest Science		
Part number:	2022:10		
Keywords:	behaviour, brown trout, dominance, ecotoxicology, exposure, fish, oxazepam, pharmaceutical, <i>Salmo trutta</i> , social status		

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Forest Sciences

Department of Forest Ecology and Management

Abstract

Improved global healthcare rises the production and consumption of human pharmaceuticals. Insufficient wastewater treatment systems and unregulated downstream impacts causes pharmaceutical contamination of surface waters with trace residues in countries covering all continents. Earlier studies of aquatic systems have shown that pharmaceutical exposure influences fish physiology and causes behavioural responses at both individual and ecosystem level. Here, I evaluated how social status in juvenile brown trout (Salmo trutta) influenced behaviour after exposure to an anxiolytic drug (the benzodiazepine, oxazepam). For this project, the fish were exposed to one of three oxazepam treatments: one low, environmentally relevant dose, one high, human therapeutic relevant dose, and one control dose without oxazepam. I expected decreased aggressive behaviour and mitigated relations between dominant and subordinate individuals. Contrary to the prediction and to earlier documentation of fish behavioural responses to oxazepam exposure, neither of the treatments in this project resulted in altered social hierarchies. Moreover, there were no significant differences in brown trout aggression between the treatment groups. The interspecies variations and the relatively unexplored effects of pharmaceutical exposure on social behaviour motivates further studies, preferability over longer time periods with environmentally realistic contexts. This information should be used to improve pharmaceutical regulations and legislation for ecological risk assessments.

Keywords: behaviour, brown trout, dominance, ecotoxicology, exposure, fish, oxazepam, pharmaceutical, *Salmo trutta*, social status

Sammanfattning

Sjukvården förbättras globalt vilket innebär en ökad produktion och konsumtion av läkemedel. I dagsläget är reningsverkens filtrering av avloppsvatten otillräckliga och spår av läkemedel har hittats i vattendrag över hela världen. Studier av akvatiska miljöer som kontaminerats av läkemedel har påvisat beteendeförändringar hos fiskar och andra vattenlevande organismer med konsekvenser på både individ- och ekosystemnivå. Under det här projektet utvärderade jag hur öringens (Salmo trutta) sociala status påverkar beteenden under exponering för ett anxiolytiskt läkemedel (bensodiazepinen oxazepam). Fiskarna exponerades för en av tre behandlingar av oxazepam: en låg dos som motsvarar koncentrationer som uppmätts i naturen, en hög och för människan terapeutiskt relevant dos, samt en kontrolldos utan oxazepam. Jag förväntade mig att exponerade fiskar skulle uppträda mindre aggressivt och att beteendeskillnader mellan dominanta och underordnade individer skulle mildras. I motsats till hypotesen och tidigare dokumentation av beteendeförändringar hos fiskar som exponerats för oxazepam resulterade ingen av behandlingarna i förändrade dominanshierarkier under detta projekt. Vidare fanns heller inga signifikanta skillnader i aggressivt beteende mellan behandlingsgrupperna. De relativt outforskade konsekvenserna av läkemedelsexponering på populationsoch ekosystemnivå motiverar ytterligare studier, företrädesvis över längre tidsperioder och under miljömässigt realistiska förutsättningar. Informationen bör användas för att reglera hantering av läkemedel och vid framtida riskbedömningar av ekotoxikologiska effekter.

Nyckelord: beteende, dominans, ekotoxikologi, exponering, fisk, oxazepam, läkemedel, *Salmo trutta*, social status, öring

Table of contents

1.	Introduction	.6		
1.1	Aquatic systems are contaminated by human pharmaceuticals	.6		
1.2	Pharmaceutical exposure can alter fish behaviour	.6		
1.3	The social context can influence the behavioural responses to exposure	.7		
1.4	The aim of the project	.7		
2.	Methods	.9		
2.1	Fish collection and social group formation	.9		
2.2	Exposure and video recording	.9		
2.3	Scoring aggressive behaviour	10		
2.4	Analysis of data	11		
2.5	Ethical considerations	11		
3.	Results	12		
3.1	Behavioural and social consequences of exposure	12		
3.2	The influence of social status and time	12		
3.3	Body size impact	13		
4.	Discussion	14		
4.1	Oxazepam exposure did not affect social status or aggressive behaviour	14		
4.2	Disrupted social behaviours can have consequences on an ecosystem level	15		
4.3	Challenges for future research	15		
4.4	Conclusion	16		
Refe	ences	17		
Appendix 1. Behavioural Coding Ethogram20				

1. Introduction

1.1 Aquatic systems are contaminated by human pharmaceuticals

Production and consumption of pharmaceuticals has increased in the last decades (Patel et al. 2019). Improved global healthcare has raised the demand for medical resources (van Boeckel et al. 2014) and pharmaceutical manufacturing, consumption, and disposal contributes to chemical contamination of nature. Leakage is extensive in places with inadequate disposal practices or deficient treatment facilities (Wilkinson et al. 2022), and the consequences for aquatic ecosystems are still largely unexplored (Patel et al. 2019). Wastewater effluent is a significant source of pharmaceuticals to the environment, yet conventional wastewater treatment processed do not adequately remove all pharmaceutical compounds from the effluent (Luo et al. 2014). Once in the water, fish and other aquatic animals can absorb pharmaceuticals, either directly from the water or via food intake (Mogren et al. 2013). Through biomagnification, the pharmaceuticals accumulate in the organism and could increase with each trophic level, including humans as a top predator (Kümmerer 2009). Since 2001, the European Medicines Agency requires ecotoxicological testing for pharmaceuticals entering the market (European Commission 2001/82, European Commission 2001/83), but any substances introduced earlier have not necessarily undergone ecotoxicity assessment (Martin & McCallum 2021). While pharmaceutical toxicity in humans is thoroughly studied, research about the ecotoxicological and ecological effects in aquatic environments are unrepresented (Boxall et al. 2012).

1.2 Pharmaceutical exposure can alter fish behaviour

At environmentally relevant concentrations (~1.8 μ g litre⁻¹), human pharmaceuticals can have ecotoxicological effects on animal physiology and behaviour (e.g., Brodin et al. 2013, Hellström et al. 2016, Brodin et al. 2017, McCallum et al. 2021). In carefully balanced doses, pharmaceuticals are designed to regulate human biological functions. Therefore, exposure to human pharmaceuticals could affect fish and other non-target organisms that have biological receptors and enzymes similar to humans (Gunnarsson et al. 2008). Pharmaceuticals such as antidepressants and other psychiatric drugs are known to affect ecologically important behaviours, such as activity, risk assessment, reproduction, and feeding rates (e.g., Kidd et al. 2006, Brodin et al. 2013, Hellström et al. 2016). Consequently, this could disrupt selective regimes and potentially lead to decreased fitness and survival. An example is oxazepam, a benzodiazepine commonly detected in freshwaters (Klaminder et al. 2015), and used to treat human anxiety, insomnia, and muscle spasms. Oxazepam acts through the gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptor, found in many vertebrate species, causing neuronal hyperpolarization and sedation (Tallman et al. 1980, Gunnarsson et al. 2008). For instance, the anxiolytic drug has been shown to disrupt behavioural endpoints in a natural population of European perch (*Perca fluviatilis*), causing fish to be more active and less social compared to non-exposed fish (Brodin et al. 2013).

1.3 The social context can influence the behavioural responses to exposure

Recent studies have mostly focused on pharmaceuticals affecting individuals (e.g., Brodin et al. 2013, Hellström et al. 2016, Brodin et al. 2017), but research about behavioural responses, mediated by the social environment in groups and populations, is scarce. Because chemical compounds can likely alter social structures, it is necessary to examine contaminants in a social context to understand their impact in a natural environment (Martin & McCallum 2021). To explore how social context modulates the consequences of a pharmaceutical exposure, McCallum et al. (2021) studied the effect of oxazepam exposure and fish social status (dominant vs. subordinate) on behaviour in juvenile brown trout (Salmo trutta). Exposure did not abolish the hierarchies, but the behavioural response differed depending on fish social status and oxazepam concentration. For example, subordinate fish, exposed to low concentration, became more successful competitors, compared to fish exposed to high concentration and non-exposed fish. Moreover, subordinate fish showed higher bioconcentration of oxazepam compared to dominant individuals, suggesting that social status could mediate contaminant uptake.

1.4 The aim of the project

Previous research indicates the importance of combined behavioural and toxicological studies (McCallum et al. 2021). An expected increase in the use of anxiolytics (World Health Organization 2011) motivated me to do this project, with

the aim to further investigate the effect of social context and oxazepam exposure on dominance hierarchies. Moreover, the project aimed to evaluate the repeatability of the McCallum et al. (2021) project results, using similar methods to collect and analyse data. Like for the McCallum et al. experiment, brown trout were used in this project. Juvenile brown trout are well-suited for behavioural experiments due to well-described previous research on the causes and consequences of territorial behaviour and dominance hierarchies.

This paper addressed two main issues: does oxazepam exposure affect the probability of fish changing social status (i.e., a dominant fish becomes subordinate, or vice versa), and can oxazepam exposure alter aggression? Considering the McCallum et al. (2021) results, which showed that fish absorbed different amounts of oxazepam, I predicted that exposure would change social status. Furthermore, fish that are exposed to high concentration treatment should display less aggressive behaviour compared to fish exposed to low concentration treatment or non-exposed fish.

2. Methods

2.1 Fish collection and social group formation

This project used 168 two-year old individuals of brown trout collected in the Norrfors Fish Hatchery outside of Umeå, Sweden, a site not known to receive input of pharmaceutical pollutants. The fish were brought to Umeå University, where they were housed for at least 72 hours before trials, allowing them to recover from the transport. In 1000 L tanks with ground water flow-through, the fish were fed until saturation, once a day, with both sinking and floating commercial fish pellets (INICIO, BioMar, Denmark).

During the following measurements, the fish were anaesthetised to reduce stress using MS-222 (Ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate; CAS number: 886-86-2; 0.1 g/L). The fish were size matched according to measurements of total length and body mass (to nearest 0.01 g) as precisely as possible and put together into groups of three. Each fish was also given a unique dorsal fin clip for identification during behavioural trials. Lastly, the fish were placed into a dark, aerated tank for sedation recovery.

2.2 Exposure and video recording

After sedation recovery, the groups of fish were transferred to a climate-controlled room and placed into glass aquaria filled with 112 L of the same groundwater as the housing tanks. The aquarium also stored a small recirculating water pump, an air stone, and a plastic plant. On day one and day seven, during each experimental replicate, water quality was monitored in two randomly selected tanks (regardless of treatment), registering dissolved oxygen concentration, temperature (YSI Ecosense), pH, conductivity, total dissolved solids, and salinity (Oakton Multiparameter Testr); nitrate, nitrite, water hardness, and chlorine (Tetra 6-in-1 multiparameter test strips). Temperature was monitored using temperature loggers (range: 9-11°C; HOBO MXtemp).

An exposure stock solution was prepared in the afternoon by dissolving oxazepam (Merck; CAS number: 604-75-1) in highly purified water. The following morning, the fish were exposed in their social groups to one of three oxazepam treatments: a low oxazepam concentration of $1.5 \mu g$ /litre, representing wastewater environment; a high oxazepam concentration of $30 \mu g$ /litre, representing a human therapeutically relevant dose; or a control treatment without oxazepam. The exposure stock solution was pipetted into the aquarium, and the water was mixed using a dip net, including a control aquarium without any stock solution. The project included five replicates, each with 10 social groups, and with at least one tank of each treatment represented. The fish were then allowed to form dominance hierarchies in their social groups. Two groups were omitted from further analysis over the course of the project due to fish mortality.

Behind opaque blinds (limiting disturbance) the fish were filmed from the side of the tank with a video recorder (2.65 MP/1080p, Sony HDR-PJ50) mounted on tripods. Over a seven-day period, each social group was recorded on four occasions for 50 minutes for each trial between 9 and 10 am, the first recording being prior to exposure and the three following past exposure. After the final recording the fish were transferred from the exposure tanks and euthanized in MS-222 (0.3 g/litre).

2.3 Scoring aggressive behaviour

After the behavioural trials, dominance and aggression were coded blind to the oxazepam exposure treatment with the computer software Boris following the ethogram established in McCallum et al. (2021) including five different dyadic social behaviours (Appendix 1). For each interaction, both the aggressor and the receiver were registered to quantify the behavioural events for each individual fish, social group, tank, and replicate. The individual fish's social status was assessed by aggression index (aggression given minus aggression received) and by position in the tank relative to the plant. A position close to the plant is coveted compared to a position restricted to the tank periphery. To standardise video lengths and to allow fish to settle after starting the camera, behaviour was scored from 10:00 minutes to 50:00 minutes (except for two videos that were cut shorter to 40 minutes).

Dominance was estimated either by aggression given or by control of the plant. On most occasions, the fish identified as dominant by aggression given was also the fish controlling the plant. When no dominant fish could be identified, all fish were assigned as "none" for dominance, i.e., non-existent aggression, or no one claimed the plant. We assume that when a fish claims the plant, it has been preceded by aggressive behaviour, while if there is aggression but none claims the plant, it implies that the dominance hierarchies are still not established. Thus, we can assign a fish to be dominant without observing any aggressive behaviour. Consequently, to assign dominance for each day of the project, I used dominance by control of the plant, and only when no fish claimed the plant, I used dominance by aggression given.

2.4 Analysis of data

All statistical analyses were conducted using R (version 4.1.3; R Core Team 2021). Change in dominance hierarchies were analysed with a three-sample probability test (Chi-square test for equality of proportions, without continuity correction). By comparing whether the individual identified as dominant day one (prior to exposure) was replaced by another individual day six (post exposure), it was tested whether the likelihood of fish changing social status would differ between the treatments. This test required that a dominant fish could be identified both day one and day six.

Using a linear model, the effect of oxazepam treatment, time (i.e., filming day), and dominance (i.e., being assigned dominant versus subordinate) on fish aggression was analysed. Because aggression was not normally distributed, the aggression variable was log-transformed prior to analysis.

To evaluate if the average group body size differed across the oxazepam treatment groups, differences in average social group length and mass between the treatments were analysed using linear models. Further, to test if individual body size (length and mass) would predict social status (i.e., who was assigned dominant or subordinate), generalised linear models appropriate for binary response data were used.

2.5 Ethical considerations

This project was conducted under a Jordbruksverket ethical permit to Tomas Brodin (number Dnr 5.9.18-17028/2020).

3. Results

3.1 Behavioural and social consequences of exposure

I did not find any connection between oxazepam treatment and fish social status. Oxazepam exposure did not affect the probability of brown trout changing social status (estimate = 0.17, df = 2, p = 0.92) meaning that oxazepam exposure did not affect dominant fish to become subordinate (or vice versa) more often compared to non-exposed fish.

A fish exposed to high concentration of oxazepam was not differently aggressive compared to fish exposed to the low concentration of oxazepam or the non-exposed fish. Aggression given did not differ between exposed groups and non-exposed groups (control vs. low: N = 129, est. \pm SE 0.0083 \pm 0.042, t = -0.20, p = 0.84, control vs. high: N = 129, est. \pm SE 0.015 \pm 0.041, t = -0.35, p = 0.73, Figure 1).

3.2 The influence of social status and time

Dominant fish were more aggressive than subordinate fish (N = 129, est. \pm SE -0.55 \pm 0.036, t = -15.32, p < 0.0001, Figure 1). Further, aggression declined over the trial period (N = 129, est. \pm SE -0.037 \pm 0.0088, t = -4.2, p < 0.0001), indicating that social hierarchies were established.



Figure 1. Dominance behaviour by treatment interactions. Aggression given (log-transformed) as response to three different concentrations of oxazepam (control: $0 \mu g/litre$; low: 1.5 $\mu g/litre$; high: $30 \mu g/litre$), plotted over trial, and categorised by social status. Aggression given measured as the number of expressed dyadic behaviour, following a behavioural coding ethogram (Appendix 1).

3.3 Body size impact

Average group length and mass were not significantly different among treatments (Body mass: control vs. low: N = 54, est. \pm SE 0.052 \pm 0.40, t = 0.13, p = 0.90, control vs. high: N = 54, est. \pm SE 0.12 \pm 0.40, t = 0.31, p = 0.76; Body length: control vs. low: N = 54, est. \pm SE 0.97 \pm 4.2, t = 0.23, p = 0.82, control vs. high: N = 54, est. \pm SE 0.58, p = 0.56). Social status was not predicted by either body length (N = 129, est. \pm SE -0.030 \pm 0.083, t = -0.36, p = 0.72), or body mass (N = 129, est. \pm SE -0.0011 \pm 0.0075, t = -0.14, p = 0.89).

4. Discussion

4.1 Oxazepam exposure did not affect social status or aggressive behaviour

This project had two goals: to investigate how fish social status and oxazepam exposure influences dominance hierarchies, and to evaluate the repeatability of McCallum et al. (2021) results, suggesting that individual social status mediates behavioural responses to oxazepam exposure in brown trout. I predicted that exposed fish would change social status more often, and that fish exposed to high oxazepam concentrations would be less aggressive compared to non-exposed fish. Aware of the relatively small sample size, I conclude that neither of these hypotheses can be verified by data collected over this project. Earlier studies have shown that oxazepam exposure at environmentally relevant concentrations may alter fish social behaviour, although, there are interspecies variations (e.g., significant effect of oxazepam exposure: Perch—Brodin et al. 2013 and Klaminder et al. 2014, Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*)—Hellström et al. 2016, Roach (*Rutilus rutilus*)—Brodin et al. 2017, and Brown trout—McCallum et al. 2021, while no significant effect: Fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*)—Huerta et al. 2016).

It would not be far-fetched to consider body size to determine fish social status, assuming larger individuals to be dominant. If so, body size could provide the explanation, or at least a piece of the explanation, for the non-existing correlation between treatment exposure and aggressive behaviour. However, this hypothesis was rejected when neither individual or average fish length or mass were significantly different between treatment groups. Following, I suggest two other potential explanations for the absence of a relationship between treatment exposure and dyadic behaviour over this project. First, it has been shown that, at low concentrations, individuals experiencing greater predation pressure are more sensitive to oxazepam exposure (e.g., small, immature fish) compared to individuals less affected by predation pressure (e.g., larger, mature fish, Hellström et al. 2016, Hellström et al. 2020). Subordinate fish has been shown to have higher metabolic rates and cortisol levels compared to dominant fish (McCallum et al.

2021) which in turn could increase the contaminant uptake (Blewett et al. 2013). Hence, the absence of predators in a laboratory environment could explain the lack of fish social behavioural responses, suggesting that the exposure impact might vary due to ecosystems species composition (Brodin et al. 2017, Saaristo et al. 2018). Second, earlier studies have shown that brown trout can be more aggressive when observed in a laboratory environment compared to in nature which could explain why fish exposed to high concentration oxazepam treatment were as much aggressive as fish in the low dose treatment and in the control treatment (Sloman & Armstrong 2002). Further, compared to McCallum et al. (2021), this project used only three individual fish in each social group instead of four, which could decrease the competition for space in the tank and result in overall less aggressive behaviour.

4.2 Disrupted social behaviours can have consequences on an ecosystem level

Oxazepam contamination of aquatic ecosystems, altering individual fish physiology and behaviour, could modulate social hierarchies resulting in ecosystem level consequences (Kidd et al. 2006, Brodin et al. 2013, Snyder-Mackler et al. 2020). For example, increased feeding rates could provide competitive advantages at individual level (e.g., larger body mass), but at ecosystem level, intensified food intake may suppress zooplankton (i.e., fish food) which then can affect algae (i.e., zooplankton food), causing trophic cascades that affects the entire ecosystem (Brodin et al. 2013). Additionally, a fish's social status is important because the dominant fish will receive benefits by access to food, habitat, and mates (Ellis 1995) -all factors crucial for survival. As shown in McCallum et al. (2021), fish social status can, firstly, influence oxazepam uptake, and secondly, modulate the behavioural responses that are causing subordinate fish to become more competitively successful. Research combining ecology and ecotoxicology should aim to learn more about how fish social status can affect absorption of anxiolytics to better understand the responses following pharmaceutical exposure. Mitigating variations between dominant and subordinate individuals may alter selective regimes (Coe et al. 2009) and, because most fish live some parts of their lives in groups, (Snyder-Mackler et al. 2020), behavioural studies focusing on connections between individuals, populations, and ecosystems, could help to understand fish dominance hierarchies more broadly (Saaristo et al. 2018).

4.3 Challenges for future research

As pharmaceuticals become more available for the global population, it is urgent to identify the potential ecological effects for aquatic ecosystems (van Boeckel et al.

2014). Laboratory data from a simplified context might underestimate the consequences of pharmaceutical contamination in nature (Brodin et al. 2014). Some species seem to be more sensitive to exposure than others (Brodin et al. 2017), and even individuals of the same species can be differently vulnerable, depending on life stage or social status (Hellström et al. 2016, Hellström et al. 2020, McCallum et al. 2021). Also, pharmaceutical exposure causing behavioural responses could result in feedback effects, accelerating degradation of ecosystems, which further emphasises the importance of considering the social context (McCallum et al. 2021). Moreover, we must consider the variety of pharmaceuticals contaminating nature, including other types of benzodiazepines also targeting the GABA receptor, potentially underestimating the consequences that are based on a single benzodiazepine (Calisto & Esteves 2009, Boxall et al. 2012, Brodin et al. 2017). Therefore, future research should focus on identifying mechanisms and consequences of social behaviour modulated by benzodiazepines and other pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems. Further, laboratory data need to be compared with data from a realistic environment to estimate their prediction value, and to avoid underestimating the exposure effect. This could provide the information needed to predict pharmaceutical exposure effects on wildlife (McCallum et al. 2021), and to create appropriate regulations to reduce concentrations of pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems (Brodin et al. 2017, Saaristo et al. 2018).

4.4 Conclusion

The project does not provide evidence for altered social behaviour in brown trout as a response to oxazepam exposure and individual social status. This emphasises the importance to further study the causes and consequences in the variety of behavioural responses to oxazepam and other benzodiazepines in wildlife. Moreover, this enlightens the need for more complex experimental designs, with a realistic ecological environment, including interspecies relations, and performed over longer time periods.

References

- van Boeckel, T.P., Gandra, S., Ashok, A., Caudron, Q., Grenfell, B.T., Levin, S.A. et al., (2014). Global antibiotic consumption 2000 to 2010: an analysis of national pharmaceutical sales data. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 14(8), 742–50. doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70780-7
- Blewett, T., McLatchy, D.L. & Wood, C.M. (2013). The effects of temperature and salinity on 17-α-ethynylestradiol uptake and its relationship to oxygen consumption in the model euryhaline teleost (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). Aquatic Toxicology, 127, 61–71. doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.04.009
- Boxall, A.B.A., Rudd, M.A., Brooks, B.W., Caldwell, D.J., Choi, K., Hickmann, S. et al., (2012). Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: What Are the Big Questions? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 120(9), 1221–9. doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104477
- Brodin, T., Fick, J., Jonsson, M. & Klaminder, J. (2013). Dilute concentrations of a psychiatric drug alter behavior of fish from natural populations. *Science*, 339(6121), 814–5. doi.org/10.1126/science.1226850
- Brodin, T., Nordling, J., Lagesson, A., Klaminder, J., Hellström, G., Christensen, B., et al., (2017). Environmental relevant levels of a benzodiazepine (oxazepam) alters important behavioral traits in a common planktivorous fish (*Rutilus rutilus*). *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*, 80(16–8), 963–70. doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1352214
- Brodin, T., Piovano, S., Fick, J., Klaminder, J., Heynen, M. & Jonsson, M. (2014). Ecological effects of pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems – impacts through behavioural alterations. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 369(1656). doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0580
- Calisto, V. & Esteves, V.I. (2009). Psychiatric pharmaceuticals in the environment. *Chemosphere*, 77(10), 1257–74. doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.09.021
- Coe, T.S., Hamilton, P.B., Hodgson, D., Paull, G.C & Tyler, C.R. (2009). Parentage Outcomes in Response to Estrogen Exposure are Modified by Social Grouping in Zebrafish. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(21), 8400–5. doi.org/10.1021/es902302u
- Ellis, L. (1995). Dominance and reproductive success among nonhuman animals: A cross-species comparison. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 16(4), 257–333. doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(95)00050-U
- European Commission (EC) 2001/82 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 November 2001 on the Community code relating to veterinary medicinal

products. [cited 2022 April 13]. http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/eudralex/vol-5/dir_2001_82/dir_2001_82_en.pdf

- European Commission (EC) 2001/83 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 November 2001 on the Community code relating to medicinal products for human use. [cited 2022 April 13] http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/eudralex/vol-1/dir_2001_83_consol_2012/dir_2001_83_cons_2012_en.pdf
- Gunnarsson, L., Jauhiainen, A., Kristiansson, E., Nerman, O. & Larsson, D.G.J. (2008). Evolutionary Conservation of Human Drug Targets in Organisms used for Environmental Risk Assessments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(15), 5807–13. doi.org/10.1021/es8005173
- Hellström, G., Brodin, T., Jonsson, M., Olsen, H., Leander, J., Fahlman, J. et al. (2020).
 Environmentally relevant concentrations of the common anxiolytic pharmaceutical oxazepam do not have acute effect on spawning behavior in mature male Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) parr. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 36, 105–12. doi.org/10.1111/jai.13980
- Hellström, G., Klaminder, J., Finn, F., Persson, L., Alanärä, A., Jonsson, M. et al., (2016). GABAergic anxiolytic drug in water increases migration behaviour in salmon. *Nature communications*, 7, 1–7. doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13460
- Huerta, B., Margiotta-Casaluci, L., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., Scholze, M., Winter, M.J., Barceló, D. et al., (2016). Anti-anxiety drugs and fish behavior: Establishing the link between internal concentrations of oxazepam and behavioral effects. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 35(11), 2782–90. doi.org/10.1002/etc.3448
- Kidd, K.A., Blanchfield, P.J., Mills, K.H., Palace, V.P., Evans, R.E., Lazorchak, J.M et al., (2006). Collapse of a fish population after exposure to a synthetic estrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(21), 8897–901. doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0609568104
- Klaminder, J., Brodin, T., Sundelin, A., Anderson, N.J., Fahlman, J., Jonsson, M., et al., (2015). Long-term persistence of an anxiolytic drug (oxazepam) in a large freshwater lake. *Environmental science & technology*, 49(17), 10406–12. doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01968
- Klaminder, J., Jonsson, M., Fick, J. Sundelin, A. & Brodin, T. (2014). The conceptual imperfection of aquatic risk assessment tests: highlighting the need for tests designed to detect therapeutic effects of pharmaceutical contaminants. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(8). doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/8/084003
- Kümmerer, K. (2009). The presence of pharmaceuticals in the environment due to human use – present knowledge and future challenges. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90(8), 2354–66. doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.01.023
- Luo, Y., Guo, W., Ngo, H.H., Nghiem, L.D., Hai, F.I., Zhang, J. et al., (2014). A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Science of The Total Environment*, 473–4, 619–41. doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.12.065

- Martin, J.M. & McCallum, E.S. (2021). Incorporating Animal Social Context in Ecotoxicology: Can a Single Individual Tell the Collective Story? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 55(16), 10908–10. doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c04528
- McCallum, E.S., Dey, C.J., Cerveny, D., Bose, A.P.H. & Brodin, T. (2021). Social status modulates the behavioral and physiological consequences of a chemical pollutant in animal groups. *Ecological Applications*, 31(8). doi.org/10.1002/eap.2454
- Mogren, C.L., Walton, W.E., Parker, D.R. & Trumble, J.T. (2013). Trophic Transfer of Arsenic from an Aquatic Insect to Terrestrial Insect Predators. *PLoS One*, 8(6). doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067817
- Patel, M., Kumar, R., Kishor, K., Mlsna, T., Pittman Jr., C.U. & Mohan, D. (2019).
 Pharmaceuticals of Emerging Concern in Aquatic Systems: Chemistry,
 Occurrence, Effects, and Removal Methods. *Chemical Reviews*, 119(6), 3510–673. doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00299
- R Core Team (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing (4.1.3). R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.Rproject.org/
- Saaristo, M., Brodin, T., Balshine, S., Bertram, M.G., Brooks, B.W., Ehlman, S.M. et al., (2018). Direct and indirect effects of chemical contaminants on the behaviour, ecology and evolution of wildlife. *Proceedings of The Royal Society B*, 285(1885). doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.1297
- Snyder-Mackler, N., Burger, J.R., Gaydosh, L., Belsky, D.W., Noppert, G.A., Campos, F.A. et al., (2020). Social determinants of health and survival in humans and other animals. *Science*, 368(6493), 843±. doi.org/10.1126/science.aax9553
- Sloman, K.A. & Armstrong, J.D. (2002). Physiological effects of dominance hierarchies: laboratory artefacts or natural phenomena? *Journal of Fish Biology*, 61,1–23. doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2002.tb01733.x
- Tallman, J.F., Paul, S.M., Skolnick, P. & Gallager, D.W. (1980). Receptors for the age of anxiety: pharmacology of the benzodiazepines. *Science*, 207(4428), 274–81. doi.org/10.1126/science.6101294
- World Health Organization. (2011). The World Medicines Situation: access to controlled medicines, 3rd ed. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/68735
- Wilkinson, J.L., Boxall, A.B.A., Kolpin, D.W., Leung, K.M.Y., Lai, R.W.S., Galbán-Malagón, C. et al., (2022). Pharmaceutical pollution of the world's rivers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(8). doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2113947119

Appendix 1. Behavioural Coding Ethogram

Behaviour	Code	Description		
AGGRESSION - dyadic				
Displacement	d	Aggressor approaches another fish, taking over its space, displacing it in space. Does not pursue the displaced fish. Does not end in a bite.		
Chase	С	Aggressor chases another fish. Pursues it through the observation space. Does not end in a bite.		
Bite	b	Aggressor fish approaches the other fish (slowly or quickly) and closes its mouth on the body or fins of another fish. Or you can clearly see that the aggressor tries to bite the other fish but misses. You should not score two things (e.g., chase AND bite). The bite score includes the approach.		
Display (rare)	q	Two aggressing fish approach each other and line up laterally or face-to-face. Bodies rigid, slightly concave, tail flexed upwards, all fins erect. Flaring gills at each other. Can be spinning slowly in a circle or can "wiggle" their bodies against each other. Code this twice, once with each fish aggressing towards the other.		
Mouth fighting (rare)	m	Two fish lock jaws, biting each other on their faces, often spinning in circles or thrashing. Code this twice, once with each fish aggressing towards the other.		

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived, and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.